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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

Mphasis Corporation,
Plaintiff,

v.

Albert Rojas,
Defendant.

Case No. 25-cv-3175

INTEGRATED RESPONSE TO COMPLAINT AND MOTION FOR
PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION; MOTION TO COMPEL NON-PARTY QBE
TO PROVIDE RETURN SHIPPING MATERIALS OR SHOW CAUSE

Filed Pro Se by:

Albert Rojas

319 West 18th Street, 3F
New York, NY 10011
rojas.albert@gmail.com
(646) 866-1669

Dated: April 29, 2025
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

Mphasis Corporation,
Plaintiff,

V.
Albert Rojas,
Defendant.

Case No. 25-¢v-3175

NOTICE OF STANDALONE RELIEF SOUGHT

Motion to Compel Non-Party QBE to Provide Shipping Materials or Show Cause

Defendant Albert Rojas, appearing pro se, respectfully submits this Notice to clarify that within
the attached consolidated response and memorandum, beginning on page [insert page number],
he seeks distinct affirmative relief in the form of a motion to compel non-party QBE to
provide shipping materials for the return of a corporate-issued laptop, or, in the alternative,
to show cause for its continued refusal to do so.

This relief is sought pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 37 and concerns ongoing
delay, obstruction, and potential regulatory noncompliance on the part of QBE, which continues
to refuse to issue a FedEx shipping label despite Defendant’s repeated efforts since December
2024,

Defendant respectfully requests that the Court treat this portion of the integrated filing as a
standalone motion and issue a separate docket entry or ruling as appropriate.

Dated: April 29, 2025
Respectfully submitted,
Albert Rojas

Pro Se Defendant

rojas albert@gmail.com
319 West 18th Street, 3F
New York, NY 10011
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

Mphasis Corporation,
Plaintiff,

V.
Albert Rojas,
Defendant.

Case No. 25-¢v-3175

NOTICE OF MOTION TO COMPEL QBE TO PROVIDE RETURN
SHIPPING MATERIALS OR SHOW CAUSE

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendant Albert Rojas, appearing pro se, hereby moves this
Court pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 37 for an order compelling non-party QBE to:

1. Provide Defendant with a FedEx shipping label and appropriate return materials within
three (3) days of the Court’s order to facilitate the return of a QBE-issued Dell laptop
containing corporate data; or

2. Inthe alternative, appear and show cause within seven (7) days of the Court’s order why
it has failed to do so despite Defendant’s documented, repeated efforts to facilitate return
since December 2024.

This motion is supported by the accompanying Memorandum of Law, Declaration of Albert
Rojas, and Proposed Order.

Dated: April 29, 2025
Respectfully submitted,
Albert Rojas

Pro Se Defendant

rojas.albert@ gmail.com
319 West 18th Street, 3F

New York, NY 10011

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
Mphasis Corporation, Plaintiff, v. Albert Rojas, Defendant. Case No. 25-cv-3175

NOTICE OF FILING
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Albert Rojas (Defendant), appearing pro se, respectfully submits this integrated filing in response
to Plaintiff Mphasis Corporation’s Complaint and Motion for Preliminary Injunction;

1. Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction and
in Support of Defendant’s Motion to Distniss;

2.  Answer, Affirmative Defenses, and Counterclaims;
3. Enhanced Whistleblower Defense and Legal Strategy.

This response asserts statutory immunities, equitable defenses, and counterclaims rooted in
whistleblower protections and retaliation statutes.

Key Filing Summary (Mphasis v. Rojas, 25-cv-3175 SDNY):

Albert Rojas filed an integrated Motion Response opposing Mphasis’s preliminary injunction
request and moving to dismiss claims under the DTSA, CFAA, and trademark law. The filing
asserts whistleblower immunity (DTSA §1833(b), SOX, Dodd-Frank, NYLL §740), equitable
defenses (unclean hands, estoppel), and counterclaims (retaliation, defamation, emotional
distress). -

Highlights:

*  Demonstrates Mphasis’s failure to provide secure infrastructure, undermining its own
claims,

+  Asserts protected whistleblower activity exposing cybersecurity, compliance, and
discrimination issues.

»  Establishes that no trade secret or system breach was possible given technical restrictions
imposed by Mphasis itself,

*  Defends domain and email use as lawful, nominative fair use to surface protected
disclosures.

«  Cites proportional mitigation actions (content removals and disclaimers) to eliminate any
alleged harm.

*  Demands dismissal with prejudice, compensatory and punitive damages, discovery into
Mphasis’s conduct, and declaratory relief affirming whistleblower protections.

Filed Pro Se by Albert Rojas on April 24, 2025.

I, PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Plaintiff Mphasis seeks extraordinary equitable relief to suppress protected whistleblower
disclosures through contract and intellectual property claims. Defendant’s disclosures surfaced
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constitute infringement. Defendant’s websites did not offer competing services or commercialize
Mphasis’s mark— they served solely to disclose concerns regarding Mphasis’s cybersecurity
failures, discriminatory practices, and compliance risks. Such noncommercial,
whistleblower disclosures are protected under both nominative fair use and parody doctrines.

Additionally, the Defend Trade Secrets Act (DTSA) §1833(b), Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX),
and Dodd-Frank Act shield whistleblower disclosures made to expose suspected legal
violations. Plaintiff’s attempt to recast these disclosures as defamation is nothing more than a
retaliatory maneuver, in direct contravention of statutory protections. Courts have consistently
rejected attempts to use defamation law to punish whistleblower disclosures concerning
compliance failures and public interest matters. See Yang v. Navigarors Grp., Inc., 18 F. Supp.
3d 519, 532 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (denying injunctive relief where disclosures addressed compliance
failures).

Moreover, truth is an absolute defense to defamation. Plaintiff has failed to identify any false
statements of fact made by Defendant. Instead, the contested content reflects protected
opinions and truthful disclosures regarding Mphasis’s conduct. Tn fact, Mphasis's own actions
—denying Defendant access to secure systems, then alleging misconduct based on the conditions
they imposed—underscore the truthful basis of Defendant’s statements.

Even if the Court finds certain aspects of Defendant’s disclosures arguable, any injunctive relief
must be narrowly tailored. Defendant voluntarily removed the contested websites and
replaced them with neutral legal disclaimers pending resolution of these proceedings. This
propottional response demonstrates good faith and eliminates any credible risk of ongoing harm.
Under Salinger v. Colting, 607 F.3d 68 (2d Cir. 2010), courts must ensure that injunctions do
not suppress protected speech or chill whistleblower activity.

Accordingly, Plaintiff’s trademark and defamation claims should be dismissed, or at
minimum, curtailed consistent with First Amendment principles.

D. Mphasis’s Alleged Harm Highlights Its Own Security Failures— Undermining Claims and
Exposing Systemic Weaknesses

Plaintiff Mphasis’s assertion that Defendant could cause irreparable harm without ever having
access to its internal domain, systems, or secure infrastructure—operating solely from a personal
MacBook via limited web access—is not only factually implausible but highlights a glaring
weakness in Mphasis’s cybersecurity posture. This allegation is an admission against interest: if
Defendant, armed only with constrained web access and no domain-joined laptop, could truly
compromise Mphasis’s purported trade secrets or sensitive data, then Plaintiff’s entire
cybersecurity framework stands as fundamentally deficient.

Such a scenario is particularly egregious for a company that markets itself as a provider of
cybersecurity services. A failure to enforce basic endpoint segregation between client
environments and internal systems, while simultaneously refusing to provision standasd
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Unclean Hands: Mphasis’s selective enforcement and infrastructure denial preclude
equitable relief;

Equitable Estoppel: Defendant relied on Mphasis’s operational conditions;

Failure to State a Claim: Plaintiff’s claims lack factual and legal basis.

Counterclaims:

Retaliatory Termination under DTSA, SOX, Dodd-Frank, NYLL §740;
Defamation: Misrepresentation of protected disclosures as misconduct;
Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress;

Declaratory Judgment: Recognition of Defendant’s disclosures as protected
whistleblower activity.

V. ENHANCED WHISTLEBLOWER DEFENSE AND LEGAL STRATEGY

Leverage statutory protections aggressively (DTSA, SOX, Dodd-Frank, NYLL);

Document unclean hands: Infrastructure denial, DLP policy inconsistencies, age-based
harassment;

Challenge trademark and defamation claims as protected speech;

Prepare to compel discovery: Provisioning records, DLP logs, QBE communications
confirming reliance on Defendant’s work post-termination.

VI. PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Defendant respectfully requests that the Court:

Deny Plaintiff's Motion for Preliminary Injunction in its entirety;

Dismiss Plaintiff’s DTSA and CFAA claims with prejudice, based on statutory
whistleblower immunity, lack of access, and equitable defenses;

Dismiss Plaintiff’s trademark and defamation claims, as barred by the First Amendment,
fair use, and statutory whistleblower protections;

Permit Defendant’s affirmative defenses and counterclaims to proceed, including
retaliation, defamation, and intentional infliction of emotional distress;

Enter judgment for Defendant on his counterclaims, including:

a. Compensatory damages for retaliatory termination, including but not limited to lost
income, lost earning capacity, and loss of professional reputation;

b. Compensatory damages for emotional distress, including anxiety, insomnia, social
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Defendant reiterates that the use of domains and communications addressing Mphasis's conduct
falls squarely within the First Amendment's protection for critical speech and whistleblower
disclosures. This aligns with the standards in Rogers v. Grimaldi and Cliffs Notes, Inc. v. Bantam
Doubleday Dell Publ'g Group, Inc,, 886 F.2d 490 (2d Cir. 1989).

VI. EMOTIONAL DISTRESS CLAIM

Defendant asserts a counterclaim for intentional infliction of emotional distress, stemming from
Plaintiff's sustained retaliatory conduct:

1. Plaintiff denied Defendant essential infrastructure (e.g., domain-joined laptop, VPN),
creating ongoing professional anxiety, client conflicts, and operational constraints (See
Exhibit B).

2. Plaintiff engaged in age-based harassment, including derogatory "dinosaur" imagery and
repeated remarks undermining Defendant's relevance (See Exhibit D). Such conduct
satisfies the Second Circuit's standard for outrageousness in distress claims (see Ferraro v.
Kellwood Co., 440 F.3d 96 (2d Cir. 2006)).

3, Plaintiff weaponized legal processes, including the mischaracterization of protected
whistleblower disclosutes as-spoofing and trademark infringement, exacerbating
Defendant's distress and damaging his reputation.

4. Defendant has suffered severe emotional distress, including insomnia, anxiety, and social
isolation, directly resulting from Plaintiff’s retaliatory termination and aggressive
litigation posture.

This claim meets the four-prong standard for intentional infliction of emotional distress:
*  Plaintiff engaged in extreme and outrageous conduct.
*  Plaintiff intended to cause distress or acted recklessly.
*  Defendant suffered severe emotional distress.
¢  The distress was directly caused by Plaintiff's conduct.

Accordingly, Defendant seeks compensatory and punitive damages for this distress, reinforcing
the counterclaims and affirmative defenses in this matter.

VII. CONCLUSION

Defendant respectfully requests that the Court deny Plaintiff's Motion for Preliminary Injunction,
uphold Defendant's affirmative defenses, and dismiss Plaintiff's claims with prejudice.

Respectfully submitted, Albert Rojas (Pro Se) 319 West 18th Street, 3F New York, NY 10011
rojas.albert@ gmail.com (646) 866-1669
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EXHIBIT (J) Mar 28 - Apr 20, 2024 — Email rejection (“mailer-daemon™) notices showing that
Mphasis — and its counsel — blocked Defendant’s attempts to escalate concerns via standard
email channels

EXHIBIT (K) Apr. 17 & 20, 2025 — Correspondence from Mphasis’s counsel giving conflicting
instructions: on April 17, counsel directed Defendant to communicate only through his personal
email, but by April 20, that same email was blocked, leaving Defendant no avenue to be heard.

EXHIBIT (L) Mar 28, 2025 — Laptop Return Coordination And Missing Instructions

Exhibit (M) 29 Apr 2025 — Correspondence Regarding QBE Laptop Return. This exhibit
contains email communications between Defendant Albert Rojas, Plaintiff Mphasis, QBE
representatives, and Plaintiff's counsel at Ogletree Deakins, documenting Defendant’s repeated
efforts to return a QBE-issued Dell laptop. Despite requests dating back to December 2024,
Mphasis and QBE failed to provide a standard FedEx shipping label and return instructions for
over five months, Defendant’s communications highlight concerns over the persistent delays,
conflicting responses, and irregular asset handling, raising questions regarding compliance
failures, audit risks, and potential improper financial practices, Submitted under penalty of
perjury, these exchanges are material to Defendant’s whistleblower defenses and requests for
targeted financial discovery.

Page 19 of 92



Case 1:25-cv-03175-JMF-OTW  Document 14-38  Filed 04/30/25 Page 22 of 94



Case 1:25-cv-03175-JMF-OTW  Document 14-38  Filed 04/30/25 Page 23 of 94



Case 1:25-cv-03175-JMF-OTW  Document 14-38  Filed 04/30/25 Page 24 of 94



Case 1:25-cv-03175-JMF-OTW  Document 14-38  Filed 04/30/25 Page 25 of 94



Case 1:25-cv-03175-JMF-OTW  Document 14-38  Filed 04/30/25 Page 26 of 94



Case 1:25-cv-03175-JMF-OTW  Document 14-38  Filed 04/30/25 Page 27 of 94



Case 1:25-cv-03175-JMF-OTW  Document 14-38  Filed 04/30/25 Page 28 of 94



Case 1:25-cv-03175-JMF-OTW  Document 14-38  Filed 04/30/25 Page 29 of 94



Case 1:25-cv-03175-JMF-OTW  Document 14-38  Filed 04/30/25 Page 30 of 94



Case 1:25-cv-03175-JMF-OTW  Document 14-38  Filed 04/30/25 Page 31 of 94



Case 1:25-cv-03175-JMF-OTW  Document 14-38  Filed 04/30/25 Page 32 of 94



Case 1:25-cv-03175-JMF-OTW  Document 14-38  Filed 04/30/25 Page 33 of 94



Case 1:25-cv-03175-JMF-OTW  Document 14-38  Filed 04/30/25 Page 34 of 94



Case 1:25-cv-03175-JMF-OTW  Document 14-38  Filed 04/30/25 Page 35 of 94

Lack of Informed Consent and Procedural Unconscionability

Plaintiff’s claims for breach of contract, including those under the Acceptable Use Agreement,
Non-Disclosure Agreement, and Invention Assignment and Non-Solicitation Agreement, are
barred by procedural unconscionability and lack of informed consent,

At no point during Defendant’s employment did Plaintiff provide Defendant with:
* A domain-joined Mphasis laptop,
* VPN credentials, or

*  Access to Mphasis SharePoint or other internal repositories where these agreements and
policies were maintained,

Defendant’s only equipment was a QBE-issued Iaptop, which lacked access to Mphasis’s
internal systems. Defendant’s personal laptop also could not access these systems due to
Mphasis's security architecture,

During onboarding, Mphasis HR personnel directed Defendant to sign the agreements
without review, citing the inability to access the full policies at that time and assuring that such
review could occur later, Defendant was never provided practical access to these policies.

The imbalance in bargaining power, the absence of review opportunity, and the directives
from HR to 'just sign' constitute procedural unconscionability under New York contract law.

As a result, these agreements are unenforceable, and Plaintiff’s contract-based claims must
fail.

Defendant’s Good Faith Disclosure Under §1833(b)

Defendant’s Good Faith Disclosure Under §1833(b) and Lack of Legal Counsel

At all relevant times, Defendant Albert Rojas acted pro se and without the benefit of legal
representation. He lacked the financial resources to retain counsel during his employment at
Mphasis and after his termination. Despite this, Defendant made every effort to escalate his
concerns through appropriate internal and external channels. It was only after Mphasis
systematically blocked Defendant’s corporate email, personal email, and communications with
human resources and legal counsel (see Exhibits J and K), that he created external websites and
disclosed materials necessary to establish a factual record.

These actions were not taken for personal gain, public spectacle, or to deceive. Rather, they were
the only remaining mechanism available to surface compliance concerns and preserve evidence
in anticipation of litigation — protected under the whistleblower immunity provision of the
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Defend Trade Secrets Act (18 U.S.C. § 1833(b)), That statute explicitly permits disclosures of
trade secret information to an attorney or a government official solely for the purpose of
reportitig or investigating a suspected violation of law,

In this instance, Defendant’s disclosures were confined to (1) supporting the record in response
to threats of litigation by Mphasis, (2) asserting statutory whistleblower claims under 18 US.C. §
1833(b), I8 U.S.C. § 1514A (Sarbanes-Oxley), and 15 U.S.C. § 78u-6 (Dodd-Frank), and (3)
documenting misconduct in a manner accessible to investigators, regulators, and the Court. The
creation of domains resembling Mphasis branding was not done with intent to confuse the public
or impersonate the company for commercial advantage—it was done solely to bypass artificial
blocks (see EXHIBIT (J) Mar 28 - Apr 20, 2024) targeting Defendant’s hame, address, and
communications, which were enforced after he first raised concerns.

Plaintiff cannot establish malice or bad faith where it actively disabled Defendant’s ability to
comply through standard channels, and then penalized him for using the only avenues left. The
Court should therefore find Defendant’s disclosures protected and immune under §1833(b), and
reject any assertion that these efforts were malicious or unauthorized.

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE: PROTECTED WHISTLEBLOWING AND
RETALIATION UNDER SARBANES-OXLEY, DODD-FRANK,AND NEW
YORK LABOR LAW §740

1. Defendant Albert Rojas asserts that prior to any alleged misconduct or termination, he
engaged in protected whistleblowing activity under:

»  Sarbanes-Oxley Act (18 U.S.C. §15144),

° Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (15 U.S.C,
§78u-6(h)), and

o New York Labor Law §740,

2. Specifically, Rojas made good faith internal disclosures to Mphasis's risk
management, compliance, and human resources teams regarding:

»  Policy enforcement failures concerning data security and Data Loss
Prevention (DLP) systems, including exemptions for certain employees based on
age or religion.

o  Potential discrimination and retaliatory practices within client engagements,
specifically highlighting risks to client deliverables, compliance obligations, and
corporate governance.

o Inconsistent application of cybersecurity protocols, which posed a substantial
risk to data integrity, client confidentiality, and regulatory compliance.
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3. These disclosures addressed potential violations of federal securities laws, corporate
fraud, and public safety risks, all of which are protected under;

> Sarbanes-Oxley (for internal reporting of securities fraud or compliance failures),
o Dodd-Frank (for external reporting or preparation thereof), and

o New York Labor Law §740 (for any internal or external reporting related to lega
violations or public safety concerns). '

4. Defendant asserts that adverse employment actions, including:
o  His termination,
o The withholding of severance, and

> The initiation of this lawsuit,
were taken in direct retaliation for his protected disclosures.

5. Such retaliation constitutes a violation of:

»  Sarbanes-Oxley §1514A, which prohibits employer retaliation against employeces
engaging in protected internal reporting;

o Dodd-Frank §78u-6(h), which prohibits retaliation for whistleblower activity,
including preparations to report externally;

o New York Labor Law §740, which prohibits retaliation for internal or external
reports regarding violations of laws affecting public health, safety, or fraud.

6. Remedies sought under these statutes include;
o  Reinstatement (or front pay),
»  Backpay (including double backpay under Dodd-Frank),
= Compensatory damages (emotional distress, reputational harm},
o Attorney fees and costs, and
s Such other relief as this Court deems just.

7.  Plaintiff's claims for trade secret misappropriation, breach of contract, and
defamation are barred or mitigated by this retaliation defense, as the disclosures made
by Defendant were protected whistleblower activity.
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California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA): For California-based clients, Defendant
identified insufficient security measures and transparency obligations under CCPA
Section 1798.100(b).

Defendant also disclosed discriminatory DLP exemptions based on religion and age, violating
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act and the New York State Human Rights Law (NYSHRL),

1.

2.

Defendant/Counterclaim Plaintiff Albert Rojas repeats and realleges all preceding
paragraphs as if fully set forth herein,

While employed at Mphasis Corporation, Rojas was assigned to high-profile client
engagements, including QBE and Charles Schwab, where he became aware of systemic
failures in data protection, pelicy enforcement, and risk management.

Specifically, on or about November 2024, Rojas raised internal concerns with his direct
supervisor, Jitendra Borkar, and Mphasis’s risk and compliance teams, regarding:

o The exemptions granted to certain employees in Data Loss Prevention (DLP)
systems, allegedly based on age or religion.

o  The inconsistent enforcement of data security policies, which could expose
clients like QBE to regulatory noncompliance or financial risks.

On February 28, 2025, following months of raising these concerns, Rojas was subjected
to a Data Loss Prevention (DLP) incident review for emailing client deliverables to his
personal email. These actions were consistent with prior work practices and
necessitated by Mphasis’s failure to provision him with compliant equipment during
international travel.

Rather than addressing the substantive compliance concerns Rojas raised, Mphasis used
this incident as a pretext to initiate disciplinary proceedings, cffectively silencing the
whistleblower.

Within days of this DLP incident, Mphasis:
o Locked Rojas’s accounts,
o Terminated his employment, and
o Issued cease-and-desist letters targeting his protected disclosures,

The temporal proximity between Rojas’s protected disclosures and his termination
demonstrates causation under Sarbanes-Oxley.

As a direct result of this retaliation, Rojas suffered:

o  Economic losses (lost wages, benefits),
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9'

o Emotional distress, and
o Reputational harm.
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1514A(c), Rojas seeks:
o  Reinstatement or front pay,
o Backpay with interest,
o  Special damages (emotional distress, reputational harmy),

o Attorneys’ fees and costs.

The temporal proximity between Defendant’s protected disclosures (late 2024—early 2025)
and Plaintiff’s termination and subsequent lawsuit supports a prima facie case of retaliation
under SOX, Dodd-Frank, and NYLL §740 (see Yang v. Navigators Grp., 18 F, Supp. 3d 519,
529 (S.D.NY.2014)).

COUNTERCLAIM TWO: RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF THE
DODD-FRANK ACT (15 US.C. §78u-6(h))

10.

II.

Rojas repeats and realleges the foregoing paragraphs.

During and after his employment, Rojas prepared documentation for external
escalation, including draft exhibits and analyses intended to be shared with regulatory
bodies, such as the SEC or DOJ, regarding:

Inadequate internal controls at Mphasis affecting financial clients,
Potential misrepresentations to clients about data protection.
Defendant’s regulatory intent included reporting to:

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) regarding investor risk and
compliance failures related to data privacy and cybersecurity,

The Federal Trade Commission (FTC) and state attorneys general (e.g., New York
and California) concerning GDPR, CCPA, and NY SHIELD Act violations.

Defendant prepared analyses and exhibits to support these reports but was terminated and

subjected to litigation prior to submission.
This qualifies as protected activity under Dodd-Frank retaliation provisions {(see Berman v.

Neo@Ogilvy LLC, 801 F.3d 145 (2d Cir. 2015)*).
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12,

13.

14.

15,

On March 15, 2025, after receiving a cease-and-desist letter from Mphasis’s legal team,
Rojas responded by offering to share these prepared exhibits for regulatory or legal
review,

Instead of addressing these compliance concerns, Mphasis retaliated further by:
Pursuing litigation against Rojas,

Alleging trade secret misappropriation, despite his intended use of the information for
reporting violations.

This retaliation violates Dodd-Frank protections for employees preparing to report
violations externally, even if disclosures are not yet made.

Pursuant to Dodd-Frank, Rojas seeks:
Reinstatement or front pay,
Double backpay,

Attorneys’ fees and costs.

The temporal proximity between Defendant’s protected disclosures (late 2024—early 2025)
and Plaintiff’s termination and subsequent [awsuit supports a prima facie case of retaliation
under SOX, Dodd-Frank, and NYLL §740 (see Yang v. Navigators Grp., 18 F. Supp. 3d 519,
529 (S.D.N.Y. 2014)).

COUNTERCLAIM THREE: RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF NEW

YORK LABOR LAW §740

16. Rojas repeats and realleges the foregoing paragraphs.

17. Rojas’s internal disclosures regarding policy failures, discriminatory exemptions, and
risk mismanagement directly implicated violations of data privacy laws, anti-
discrimination statutes, and regulatory frameworks affecting public interest,

18. These disclosures occurred throughout late 2024 and early 2025, culminating in direct

communications with:

Jitendra Borkar (supervisor),
Shannon Moestafazadeh (HR partner),
Puran Mehta (risk/compliance team),

Yinod Kumar (Chief Risk Office).
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19.

20.

21.

Shortly after raising these concerns, Mphasis:
Terminated Rojas’s employment,
Filed suit against him.

This pattern of retaliation violates New York Labor Law §740, which protects
employees reporting violations of law or public safety risks.

Rojas seeks remedies under §740, including:

Reinstatement,

Backpay,

Compensatory damages for emotional distress and reputational harm,

Attorneys’ fees and costs,

The temporal proximity between Defendant’s protected disclosures (late 2024—early 2025)
and Plaintiff’s termination and subsequent lawsuit supports a prima facie case of retaliation
under SOX, Dodd-Frank, and NYLL §740 (see Yang v, Navigators Grp., 18 F. Supp. 3d 519,
529 (S.D.N'Y. 2014)).

COUNTERCLAIM FOUR: DISCRIMINATION BASED ON RACE AND
AGE (TITLE VII, ADEA, NYSHRL, NYCHRL)

1.

Defendant Albert Rojas incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in the
preceding paragraphs of this Answer, Affirmative Defenses, and Counterclaims.

Plaintiff Mphasis Corporation, through its agents and employees, engaged in
discriminatory practices against Defendant based on his race (Latino) and age (over 40),
in violation of:

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a);

The Age Discrimination in Employment Act {ADEA), 29 U.S.C. § 623(a);

The New York State Human Rights Law (NYSHRL), N.Y. Exec. Law § 296,

The New York City Human Rights Law (NYCHRL), N.Y.C. Admin, Code § 8-107.

Mphasis denied Defendant the standard security infrastructure (including a corporate-
issued Mphasis laptop) routinely provided to similarly situated employees, including but
not limited to Dean Forrest, who upon information and belief, are younger and not of
Defendant’s racial background.
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*  Any other relief deemed just and proper, including but not limited to the specific relief
sought under Counterclaims One through Four.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF: WHEREFORE, Defendant respectfully requests that the Court:
»  Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint in its entirety with prejudice;
*  Enter judgment for Defendant on all Counterclaims;
*  Award compensatory and punitive damages;
*  Reinstate Defendant or grant an equivalent equitable remedy under NYLL § 740;
*  Declare the websites in question lawful and protected speech;
+  Award attorneys' fees and costs, if counsel is retained;
¢ Grant such other and further relief as the Court deems just.

The temporal proximity between Defendant’s protected disclosures (late 2024—carly 2025)
and Plaintiff’s termination and subsequent lawsuit supports a prima facie case of retaliation
under SOX, Dodd-Frank, and NYLL §740 (see Yang v. Navigators Grp., I8 F. Supp. 3d 519,
529 (5.D.N.Y. 2014)).

Respectfully submitted, Albert Rojas (pro se) 319 West 18th Street, 3F New York, NY 10011
[rojas.albert@gmail.com] {646-866-1669] Dated: April 22, 2025

Albert Rojas (signature)
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by the First Amendment and NYLL § 740, and do not constitute trademark or trade secret
violations.

V. PRAYER FFOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Defendant respectfully requests that the Court:

1.

2.

7.

Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint in its entirety with prejudice;

Enter judgment for Defendant on all Counterclaims;

Award compensatory and punitive damages;

Reinstate Defendant or grant an equivalent equitable remedy under NYLL § 740;
Declare the websites in question lawful and protected speech;

Award attorneys' fees and costs, if counsel is retained,;

Grant such other and further relief as the Court deems just.

Respectfully submitted,

Albert Rojas (pro se) 319 West 18th Street, 3F New York, NY 10011 [rojas.albert@gmail com]
[646-866-1669] Dated: April 22, 2025

Albert Rojas (signature)
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EXHIBIT (A) Oct 9, 2024 - Interview and Client
Engagement Confirmation

Description:

Defendant was interviewed and hired by QBE, under the Mphasis umbrella, to remediate
Accenture’s failed implementation of the Legal NDA decoding pipeline—a critical system that
had fallen shott of delivery expectations.

From: A R rojas.alber(@gmail.com

Subject: Date: [Thank You!] Albert Rojas - Client Interview

October 9, 2024 at 11:15 pm

To: anwar.x 1 @mphasis.com, arul.a@mphasts.com, dilip.nayak@gbe.com,
jitendra.borkar@mphasis.com, koustav,bhar@qgbe.com,

arojas@nist.ai, A R rojas.albert@ gmail.com

Dear Dilip and Koustav,

It was a pleasure meeting you virtually and sharing stories. Your GenAl project aligns closely
with my experience addressing 10-K/QFAC compliance and data policy NIST and ISO risk
postures for top global enterprises. I appreciate the chance to discuss my recent AT Health work
in decoding clinical language with GenAl and hybrid search embeddings. I’m both excited and
humbled to join your team.

Sincerely,

Al Rojas

Attachments

Albert Rojas.docx

Albert Rojas - Client Interview

Wednesday Oct 9, 2024 - 3:30pm - 4:30pm (Eastern Time - New York)

Location
Microsoft Teams Meeting

Guests

Arul A - organizer

AR -creator

dilip.nayak @gbe.com
koustav.bhar@qbe.com
Anwar X - optional
Jitendra Borkar - oplional
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This conduct supports Defendant’s affirmative defenses (including unclean hands and equitable
estoppel) and counterclaims for retaliatory termination, as codified under federal and state
whistleblower laws.,

From: Jared Bulger <Jared.Bulger @mphasis.com>

Sent: Wednesday, December 18, 2024 2:19 PM

To: Albert Rojas <Albert.Rojas@gbe.com>; Balwinder Singh
<Balwinder.Singh@mphasis.com>; IND-EASE-L1 <IND-EASE-L | @mphasis.com>; US-WPS-
NY <US-WPS-

NY @mphasis.com>; Shannon Mostafazadeh <shannon.mostafazadeh@ mphasis.com>

Cc: Albert Rojas <albert.rojas @mphasis.com>; Jitendra Borkar

<Jitendra.Borkar @mphasis.com>; Gururaj Murthy <Gururaj Murthy@mphasis.com>; Dean
Forrest

<Dean.Forrest@qbe.com>

Subject: RE: [External] FW: Mphasis Laptop ## REQ0134355

This email was sent from someone outside of QBE. Be cautious opening links and attachments.
Use the ‘Report Phishing’ button if suspicious.

You can use perscnal machines, but you will be limited to WEB Version only. This has been an
Mphasis CIO/CRO policy for at least 5 years, ONLY Mphasis Domain Joined machines
can use Desktop apps, which allow downloading and storing of Mphasis data.

Regards,

Jared Bulger

Senior U.S. Administration Officer
Exhibit B (continued)

+1-332-255-9215 Office
+1-669-258-6076Mohile
Jared.Bulger@mphasis.com
226 Airport Parkway, Suite 638
San Jose, CA 95110

From: Albert Rojas

Sent: Tuesday, December 17,2024 12:13 PM

To: Jitendra Borkar <Jitendra.Borkar@gbe .com>; Nitin Bansode

<Nitin Bansode@mphasis.com>; 'shannon.berson@mphasis.com; Jitendra Borkar
<Jitendra . Borkar@mphasis.com>;

Dean Forrest <Dean Forrest@qgbe.com>

Cc: Albert Rojas <albert.rojas@mphasis.com>

Subject: Mphasis Laptop

Hi Team,

I hope you're doing well. I'm unable to access Mphasis emails from QBE. I previously submitted
a request for an Mphasis laptop while using my personal Mac, which I no longer have.

Could you please arrange for the same setup as Dean? Please refer to his note below for details,
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I would appreciate an update on the status of the Mphasis laptop when you have a chance.

Thank you!

Best regards,

Al Rojas

[December 17,2024 Dean Forest]

*  Defendant 11:52am: Do you have a QBE laptop???

* Dean Forest 11:52am: Yes

» Defendant 11:52am: how do you access Mphasis emails from QBE laptop without
downloading the Microsoft authenticator?

* Dean Forest 11:52am: I don’t have my Mphasis emails on my QBE machine. I use my
Mphasis laptop for it.

+  Defendant Copy

¢  Dean Forest 11:53am: I can access my Datalytyx emails from my phone etc but Mphasis
stuff strictly my Mphasis machine, Which is annoying but I’ve learned to live with
having 2 Iaptops open most days.

* Defendant 11:53am: so you got a Mphasis Laptop and a separate QBE laptop correct?

¢ Dean Forest 11:54am: Yes My QBE laptop has applications which are native to this
machine so even if Ilong via QRED (VCS session) using my Mphasis laptop I cannot
access tools I need just basic stuff like microsoft office.

* Defendant 11:53am: Copy Exactly! Thank you!

* Dean Forest 11:55 AM: no problem

From: Albert Rojas <alhert.rojas@mphasis.com>

Sent: Thursday, November 21, 2024 7:24 PM

To: Jitendra Borkar <Jitendra.Borkar@mphasis.com>; Mirza Ali <ali.nm@mphasis.coni>;
Shannon Mostafazadeh

<shannon.mostafazadeh@ mphasis.com>

Subject: Re: Connect; QBE Feedback/ Ways of Working

Great!

Thank you for the email Fitendra. I'm truly grateful to be part of the Mphasis team.

Regarding item #1, I’1l hold off on migrating the NIST.ai code to QBE until T hear from you and
Mirza,

Hi @Mirza Ali, I’ll be in London from Tuesday, Nov 26, through the end of the week. I have an
all-day session with QBE on Wednesday,

Nov 27, but I'm available to meet at any time. Please let me know what works best for you.

Hi @Shannon Mostafazadeh, my comments are below, enclosed between << >>.

Cheers!

Albert

From: Jitendra Borkar <Jitendra.Borkar@ mphasis.com>

Sent: Thursday, November 21, 2024 4:30 PM

To: Albert Rojas <albert.rojas@mphasis.cont>; Shannont Mostafazadeh
<shannon.mostafazadeh@ mphasis.com>

Subject: RE: Connect: QBE Feedback/ Ways of Working

Hi Al, Shannon,

Thanks for your time on the call earlier. I have summarised key points:
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email below Sent: Wednesday, November 20, 2024 11:32 PM. However, I want to formally note
that the technology QBE is secking to

provision is not Open Source. I would greatly appreciate any insights or guidance regarding this
matter,

Policy Compliance Reminder

During my first week of employment, our QBE sponsor’s laptop crashed. This highlighted a
critical concern: QBE’s network should be

further secured to prevent third-party access to their portals from inside QBE network. Security
policies vary between organizations,

and in the event of a breach, government audits of HTTPs connections are likely.

To ensure compliance and mitigate risk, I access the Mphasis portal exclusively from my
personal Mac until Mphasis provides a

company-issued laptop.

I am humbled and grateful to be part of Mphasis and to contribute to QBE’s initiatives. I look
forward to your advisement on these

matters.

Sincerely,

Al Rojas

From: Albert Rojas <albert.rojas@mphasis.com>

Sent: Wednesday, November 20, 2024 11:32 PM

To: Jitendra Borkar <Jitendra.Borkar@mphasis.com:>; Shannon Mostafazadeh
<shannon.mostafazadeh @ mphasis.com>

Subject: Re: [UPDATE Connect: QBE Feedback] FW: QBE Status - Search Index Exception

I wanted to share some highlights and an important observation ahead of our 2 PM Connect: BE
Feedback/Ways of Working session.

The Good

1. Streamlining Gen AI Onboarding:

I successfully presented and guiding the QBE team to replace the multi-page "Gen Al
Onboarding document.docx" and its

manual, multi-SNOW request process with the Enterprise Infra Assistant (EIA) chat service.
Please find the details in the

attached file;

"External] FW_ Replace GenAl Onboarding Document with EIA Chat - Albert Rojas -

Outlaok pdf"

2. Driving AI/ML Innovation for QBE:

Today, Dilip initiated collaboration with QBE Scotland (Stuart Melrose, Hybrid Cloud
Engineering) to provision an Azure compute

engine to host OFAC.ai, a platform I created to accelerate and transform AI/ML capabilities for
global financial enterprises.

OFAC.ai ensures customers are not engaged in sanctioned activities.

Dilip expressed interest in applying this platform to insurance language processing.

Siddharth S. and Suyog Prabhu are aware of both OFAC ai and NIST.ai, as well as our new sales
colleague, Mike Meyer.

The Not So Good
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EXHIBIT (C) Nov 1, 2024 - QBE sponsor’s laptop crashed

Description:
Evidence showing how equipment failures within QBE further necessitated Defendant’s
compliance-related disclosures.

A R <rojas.albert@gmail.com>

Re: [Mphasis WVDI] QBE & Mphasis emails

Albert Rojas <albert.rojas@mphasis.com> To: Arul A <Arul.A@mphasis.com>, Jitendra Borkar
<Jitendra.Borkar@mphasis.com>

Frt, Nov- 1, 2024 at 9:40 PM

Copy that. During a live Zoom session (about 30 minutes ago) with Dilip, his laptop encountered
a blue screen error and crashed. In my view, it would be prudent for QBE to tighten security
policies. Contractors should not be accessing employee portals through QBE-issued laptops and
web sessions, even if a network configuration oversight left this access open. In the event of a
breach, QBE and regulatory bodies will likely audit all access logs, including web sessions.
Attached is a photo taken with my iphone during my session with Dilip,

Respecfully, Albert
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While parsibly Intended as 2 joke, Ruturaj shared Images of dinosaurs during a
screen-sharing session, which, given the context, seemed Inappropriate and
possibly agelst. This act appeared hostile and age-refated, as | am pver 50.

Leverage

Lucid flow

Friday 18:16 Defendant

Copy

Friday 21:37 Ruturai Waghmode
Where you able to draft a better version?

While possibly intended as a joke, Ruturaj shared images of dinosaurs during a screen-sharing
session, which, given the context, seemed inappropriate and possibly ageist. This act appeared
hostile and age-related, as T am over 50.

Friday 21:45 Defendant

Of course-it's an art. I played a key role in building Oracle HQ's first CC recommendation engine
(inverted index of incident histories) in redwood shores, where prompt return similar incidents
during interactive sessions. I'm confident we can walk away from the meeting with a two-week
paid engagement to establish a baseline and provide our recommendations,

Friday 22:36 Ruturai Waghmode

Looking for the uplifted deck version if you have one

Friday 21:46 Defendant

Like I said, it's an art, I'l have it ready first thing Monday. I'd love to present this to QBE because
I enjoy showing QBE that we know how to make all the moving parts work, especially Al-driven
enhancements that ensure users always have the latest data during interactive CC sessions.

Saturday 14:34 Defendant

Open this using the "Your Browser' option to activate the hyperlinks, especially on slide 5. 1
assume there's awareness that QBE is facing Contact Center challenges. This presentation has
two key objectives

1. Mphasis understands how to make the moving parts work

2. As Sales Consultants, we are here to help
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Anna and I were working at the hotel and she invited me to her Paris show on March 6. I really
think I should attend—it'll be a great net working opportunity for Mphasis . You know I love
hunting for business, and the tech side comes naturally to me, I’ve been coding longer than
anyone you have at Mphasis, I promise I’ll fly back to New York right after the show.

Let me know your thoughts.

One more point;

If we're uncertain about their data, that's even more reason to hold off on presenting the Lucid
slides for now, sit. The two-week engagement may reveal that the CC software is functioning
perfectly and that the issue lies in how QBE is using it-just like what happened with LLMs
decoding NDAs, The LLM performed as designed; the problem was in how QBE was using it.
Respectfully,

Albert

Monday 21:56 Ruturai Waghmode

1 created this QBE proposal deck Discover workshop proposal for QBE CCaa$ transformation
2025.03.03.pptx

Monday 22:20 Defendant

The proposal deck includes Lucid (slide 9). I was under the impression we were aiming for a
two-week paid engagement

—can you confirm?

Safe travels

Best,

Albert

Monday 22:23 Ruturai Waghmode

Please fix

Monday 22:24 Defendant

you need to give me rights to the deck

Slide 5 mentions two streams running in parallel, but it describes Stream-2 as having a "foreign
key” relationship to Stream-1, If I'm misinterpreting, feel free to disregard (though QBE might
read it the same way | do). Also, I now have access to your deck. Cheers!

Tuesday 02:17 Ruturai Waghmode

Hey

‘Was in transit

Let's talk tomorrow

Let's talk 1:1

Tuesday 07:05 Defendant

Copy

I think you need to email me your deck as I can't download it. Some peints: Slide 3: Rename o
“Our Contact Center Tuning Best Practices.”

+ Slide 5: Adjust the x-plot to show that Stream 1 learnings feed into Stream 2.

* Slide 6: Clarify that the 2-week Stream 1 supports the recommendations deliverable (remove
the

implication of needing 6 weeks}.
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Exhibit (E) — December 22, 2024 — JIRA Tickets: Evidence
QBE continued implementing Defendant’s solutions post-
termination.

Description:

Defendant’s structured methodologies— documented through JIRA tickets (the digital paper trail
for task ownership, traceability, and collaboration)— captured remediation strategies for
persistent failures in QBE's Legal NDA platform originally developed by Accenture. Supporting
materials included spreadsheets and video demonstrations of execution flaws. These JIRA
records show that QBE continued to apply Defendant’s solutions even after Mphasis terminated
him, demonstrating the enduring value of his work. This undercuts claims of misappropriation or
harm, reinforcing that Defendant’s contributions enhanced, not damaged, Mphasis’s
competitiveness.

241 oll 7

3 Messagas
<P "Improved Legal NDA... A\ W/

Today 119 PM

Hey! How are you? Just checking
in from Lendon. If anyone has any
questions on that 'adilip.xsix’
spread sheet highlighting the
‘data nol found’ prompt returns
which are incorrect, reach out as
always. If | missed something,
please advise. I'm heading out
shortiy. | hope all is well i M.,
Chears! y ~

@ ADilip A.xlsx
20 KB

Yes we discussed the issue last
two days and two new jiras have
been raised. One of them is going
to be resolved by Manjusha and
the other will have to be handled
by Ishfta when she gets back from
vacation

g MEI K o
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Exercise caation — External Mail,

Hi AL

You have to drop off the laptop in the office you picked it from. These are leased equipment.
@Dilip Nayak please inform Mphasis on this

Thanks

Palavesam

Get Outlook for iOS

From: Albert Rojas <albert.rojas@mphasis.com>

Sent: Sunday, December 22, 2024 8:06:22 AM

To: Dilip Nayak <Dilip.Nayak@qbe.com>; Palavesam Chandrasekar
<Palavesam.Chandrasekar@qbe.com>

Subject: Fw: End date for contract Dec 31, 2024 - Follow-Up: Legal NDA App and Supporting
ExhibitsThis email was sent from someone outside of QBE. Be cautious opening links and
attachments. Use the ‘Report Phishing’ button if suspicious.

Hey!

The QBE laptop is locked, so I've picked up a Mac and am preparing for some travels around
Europe. I'm planning to drop off the QBE laptop at the

QBE London office tomorrow MondayA.
On another note, what Accenture built is really suboptimal. You can achieve the same

functionality with the Legal NDA using the approach I showed
you with the Auto app and a simple prompt— without the exorbitant costs of Azure Search and

those static 1,000-token chunks §§ .

Wishing both of you and your families a wonderful Christmas. It goes so fast so enjoy every
moment,

Sincerely,

Albert

Get Outlook for iOS

From: Albert Rojas <albert.rojas@mphasis.com>

Sent: Sunday, December 22, 2024 10:28 AM

To: Jitendra Borkar <Jitendra.Borkar@mphasis.com>; Nitin Bansode

<Nitin.Bansode@ mphasis.com>; Mirza Ali

<ali.mm@mphasis.com>

Subject: End date for contract Dec 31, 2024 - Folliow-Up: Legal NDA App and Supporting
Exhibits

Gents,

As my work with QBE concludes on December 31, I want to share a few important points and
exhibits regarding my previous email (Fri, Dec 20, 2024,

at 8:39 PM) with Dilip and the QBE team.

In that email, I mentioned:

"If the current Legal NDA app doesn't neet the business's SLA requirements, feel free to use the
solution I built for

DocNote .ai as a starting point for decoding NDAs."

Below are supporting exhibits that validate my concerns and recommendations:
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EXHIBIT (H) MAR 15, 2025 - CEASE-AND-DESIST
LETTER (2 DAYS AFTER MPHASIS FIRED
DEFENDANT)

Description: Issued by Mphasis’s counsel to Defendant. This letter demanded that Defendant
take down his whistleblower websites and cease his disclosures, It is evidence of Mphasis’s
retaliatory posture immediately after Defendant’s protected activity, and it preceded the
filing of this lawsuit,

EMAIL March 15, 2025

Albert Rojas

VIA EMALIL (rojas.albert@gmail.com, Arojas@docnote.ai, arojas@nist.ai)

Re: Your Violation of Contractual Agreements with Mphasis

Dear Mr. Rojas; ,

I am in-house counsel to Mphasis corporation (including its subsidiaries, “Mphasis™).

It has come to our attention that you have engaged in muitiple, serious violations of your
contractual

obligations—both during and after your employment with Mphasis, These breaches constituic a
direct and

blatant disregard for the terms you agreed to, and we are treating them with the utmost severity.
Mphasis has already launched a formal investigation into the full scope of your misconduct, and
we will

pursue all necessary actions to address the violations we uncover, You will be hearing from us
soon

regarding the investigation and further potential consequences of your actions.

However, your unauthorized creation of hitps://mphasis.nyc/ and your use of
arojas@mphasis.nyc email ID,

demands immediate resolution. We expect your prompt cooperation—failure to act accordingly
will escalate

this matter significantly.

Not only have you unlawfully removed Mphasis proprietary information from authorized
company

equipment, but you have now recklessly published it openly on the internet. This is an egregious
violation of

your contractual obligations, including but not limited to confidentiality, non-disclosure, privacy,
and

intellectual property protection.

Therefore, Mphasis demands that you comply with the following corrective actions imtuediately:
1. 2.3. 4. 5. 6. 7. Immediately cease and desist from using arojas@mphasis.nyc as it is
misleading and inappropriate.

Remove all Mphasis proprietary information from any unauthorized platforms, including
https://mphasis.nyc/ and any other locations where it has been published,
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have made and are making to comply with Mphasis’ demands contained in this letter,
and (3)

providing your written commitment to abide by your legal obligations to Mphasis in the
future. If | do not hear from you within five (5) days, | will assume that you have no
intention

of complying with your legal obligations and | will proceed to advance all legal remedies
available to protect Mphasis’ rights.

Please give this matter your most sincere attention. | look forward to hearing from
you.

Sincerely,

/s/ Wiliam E. Grob

William E. Grob

89230681.v1-OGLETREE
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Message blocked

See technical details below for more information.

LEARN MORE

The response was:

Message rejected. For more information, go to https:/support.google.com/mail/answer/69585
Final-Recipient: rfc822; kimberly karseboom@ogletree.com

Action: failed

Status: 5,7.1

Diagnostic-Code: smtp; Message rejected. For more information, go to https://
support.google.com/mail/answer/69585

Last-Attempt-Date: Sun, 20 Apr 2025 03:45:40 -0700 (PDT)
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Date: March 28, 2025 at 12:00:59 PM GMT+1
To: rojas.albert@gmail.com
Subject: No due clearance document

Dear Employee,

Please find attached your No due Clearance Document. The details mentioned in your no due
clearance document will be considered for full and final settlement.

HR off boatding Team.

This is a system generaled mail. Please do nof reply

Information Transmitted by this Email is Proprietary to Mphasis, its Associated Companies and/
or its Customers and is Intended for use only by the Individual or Entity to which it is Addressed,
and may contain Information that is Privileged, Confidential or Exempt from Disclosure under
Applicable Law. If you are not the Intended Recipient or it appears that this Email has been
Forwarded to you without proper Authority, you are Notified that any use or Dissemination of
this Information in any manner is Strictly Prohibited. In such cases, please Notify us
Immediately at mailmaster@mphasis.com and delete this Email from your Records.
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Exhibit (M) 29 Apr 2025 - Correspondence Regarding QBE
Laptop Return

Description:

This exhibit contains email communications between Defendant Albert Rojas, Plaintiff Mphasis,
QBE representatives, and Plaintiff’s counsel at Ogletree Deakins, documenting Defendant’s
repeated efforts to return a QBE-issued Dell laptop. Despite requests dating back to December
2024, Mphasis and QBE failed to provide a standard FedEx shipping label and return
instructions for over five months, Defendant’s communications highlight concerns over the
persistent delays, conflicting responses, and irregular asset handling, raising questions regarding
compliance failures, audit risks, and potential improper financial practices. Submitted under
penalty of perjury, these exchanges are material to Defendant’s whistleblower defenses and
requests for targeted financial discovery.

From: Legal <legal@mphasis.cloud>

Subject: Re: Shipping Label and Box Request for QBE Laptop
Date: April 29, 2025 at 4:50:25 pm CEST

To: "Kimberly R. Karseboom" <kimberly.karseboom@ogletree.com>
Cc: Dilip Nayak <dilip.nayak@gbe.com>, "andrew.horton@qgbe.com”
<andrew.horton@qgbe.com>, "nitin.rakesh@mphasis.com"
<hitin.rakesh@mphasis.com>

Dear Ms. Karseboom,
Thank you for your response.

Respectfully, your message does not answer the fundamental question: Why has it taken over
five (5) months to provide a basic FedEx shipping label for the return of a QBE laptop?

Despite repeated requests dating back to December 2024, this matter remains unresolved —
contrary to normal corporate practice, which demands prompt action to ensure asset
accountability and audit compliance.

Given the highly irregular delay, I expect a direct answer: What caused the five-month lapse?
Please respond without further deflection,

Submitted under penaity of perjury,
Albert Rojas

On Apr 29, 2025, at 4:42 PM, Karseboom, Kimberly R, <kimberly karseboom@ogletree.com>
wrote:

As you've been informed repeatedly, Mphasis and my firm is handling the return of the laptop.
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Kimberly R. Karsehoom | Ogletree Deakins
599 Lexington Avenue, 17th Floor | New York, NY 10022 | Telephone; 212-492-2078

kimberly.karseboom@ogletree com | www.ogletree.com | Bio

From: Legal <legal@mphasis.cloud>

Sent: Tuesday, April 29,2025 10:40 AM

To: Dilip Nayak <«dilip.nayak@gbe.com>; andrew.horton@gbe .com

Cec: Legal <legal@mpbhasis.cloud>; Karseboom, Kimberly R.

<Kimberly karseboom @ogletreedeakins.com>; Grob, William E.
<William.Grob@ogletreedeakins.cont>; Litlard, Samuel (Sam) N.

<sam lillard @ ogletreedeakins com>; nitin, rakesh@mphasis.com;
ruturaj.waghmode@mphasis.com; Jared.Bulger@mphasis.com; Balwinder Singh
<Balwinder.Singh@mphasis.com>; Jitendra Borkar <Jitendra.Borkar@ mphasis.com>,
Gururaj.Murthy @mphasis.com; george.ioannou@mphasis.com; bkellypi@aol.con; Legal
<legal@mphasis.cloud>; rojas.albert@gmail.com

Suhject: Re: Shipping Label and Box Request for QBE Laptop

[Caution: Email received from external source]

Deat Mr. Nayak,

Good to hear from you.

Respectfully, it remains unclear why it has taken over five (5) months for QBE to provide a basic
FedEx shipping label for the return of the QBE Dell laptop, despite my repeated requests dating
back to December 2024,

Given the extended delay and lack of standard corporate procedure, I am compelled to question
whether this obstruction was intentional. As you are aware, global enterprises typically facilitate
asset returns promptly to maintain accountability, chain of custody, and avoid potential audit
irregularities.

Please advise immediately on when the shipping label and box will be properly provided so that
this return may be finalized without further unnecessary delay.,

Submitted under penalty of perjury,

Albert Rojas

Sent from my iPhone
On Apr 29, 2025, at 4:10 PM, Dilip Nayak <dilip.nayak @gbe .com> wrote:

All - please remove all QBE folks from this email. These emails are distracting folks at various
levels and does not warrant this kind of escalation. Consider this a request.

Regards
Dilip Nayak
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From: Legal <legal@mphasis.cloud>

Sent: Tuesday, April 29, 2025 8:52 AM

To: Kimberly R. Karseboom <kimberly.karseboom@ogleiree.conm:>

Cc: William E. Grob <William .Grob@ogletreedeakins.com>>; Samuel N. Lillard

<sam lillard@ogletreedeakins.con>; nitin rakesh@mphasis.com; Andrew Horton
<andrew.horton@gbe.com>; Dilip Nayak <dilip.nayak@gbe.com>; Palavesam Chandrasekar
<Palavesam.Chandrasekar@qbe.com>; ruturaj, waghmode @mphasis.com;

Jared Bulger@mphasis.com; Balwinder Singh <Balwinder.Singh@ mphasis.com>; Jitendra
Borkar <Jitendra.Borkar@mphasis com>; Gururaj Murthy@mniphasis.com; Dean Forrest
<Dean.Forrest@gbe.com>; george.ioannou@ mphasis.com; r A <rojas.albert@gmail.com>,
bkellypi @aol.com; Legal <legal @mphasis.cloud>

Subject: Re: Shipping Label and Box Request for QBE Laptop

This email was sent from someone outside of QBE. Be cautious opening links and attachments.
Use the ‘Report Phishing’ button if suspicious.

Dear Counselor,

As I previously informed Mr. Kelly, I can easily have my neighbor place the QBE Dell laptop
into a box and apply a shipping label for return.

The persistent obstacles and irregulatities surrounding this simple return process undetscore why
I previously raised concerns that QBE and Mphasis may be engaged in improper financial
practices, potentially rising to the level of money laundering. Reputable global enterprises do not
operate with this degree of disorganization and obfuscation.

Accordingly, I respectfully reiterate my request: please provide a FedEx shipping label and a
box, as is standard practice for corporate asset returns, so that the laptop can be returned properly
and expeditiously.

Submitted under penalty of petjury,

Albert Rojas

On Apr 29, 2025, at 3:44 PM, Karseboom, Kimberly R. <kimberly karseboom@ogletree com>
wrote:

If you are in France, how will you send a laptop that is currently in NY? Respectfully, you
cannot state you have been attempting to return it. You were told by QBE to arrange it with
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